Court of Appeals, Division I No. 71411-2-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DOROTHY L. PAYNE, Individually and as the personal representative of the Estate of BECKY S. ANDERSON, deceased,

Petitioner,

vs.

DONALD R. PAUGH: WENATCHEE VALLEY MEDICAL CENTER, P.S.; LINDA K. SCHATZ; WENATCHEE ANESTHESIA ASSOCIATES; LASER ENGINEERING, INC., a foreign corporation,

Defendants,

MEDTRONIC, INC.; MEDTRONIC XOMED, INC., and UNKNOWN JOHN DOES,

Respondents,

CENTRAL WASHINGTON HEALTH SERVICES ASSOCIATION d/b/a CENTRAL WASHINGTON HOSPITAL, a Washington corporation,

Defendant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

This petition for review is filed on behalf of Dorothy L. Payne, individually and as the personal representative of the Estate of Becky S. Anderson.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Ms. Payne seeks review of the published Court of Appeals decision terminating review as to defendants/respondents Medtronic, Inc., and Medtronic Xomed, Inc. *See Payne v. Paugh*, – Wn. App. –, – P.3d –, 2015 WL 5682438 (Div. I, Sept. 28, 2015). A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 to A-16.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

In this product liability action alleging defective design of a medical device, the superior court instructed the jury that the plaintiff has the burden of proving the manufacturer is negligent and that the device is not "reasonably safe," in accordance with the applicable pattern jury instruction. *See* WPI 110.02.01. However, the court declined to give an instruction containing the statutory tests to determine whether the product is reasonably safe.

The Washington Product Liability Act (WPLA) defines the phrase "reasonably safe" in terms of a risk-utility balancing test and a consumer expectations test. *See* RCW 7.72.030(1)(a) & (3). By

comparison, the ordinary meaning of the phrase "reasonably safe" is "fairly" or "moderately" safe.

In the absence of the WPLA definition of the phrase "reasonably safe," did the superior court's instructions properly inform the jury of the applicable law, allow Anderson to argue her theory of the case, and constrain the Medtronic defendants' closing arguments?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 3, 2012, Becky Anderson went to the hospital for minor elective surgery that was supposed to last ten minutes, using a laser to remove a polyp on her vocal cords so she would not get hoarse when she sang.¹ In the past, her surgeon had always used a special endotracheal tube with two "cuffs" to seal off the patient's trachea during this type of procedure, while the anesthesiologist administered oxygen through the lumen of the tube, thereby allowing the patient to breathe. The purpose of the double-cuff design is to protect the patient. The upper cuff is filled with saline, and, if struck by the laser, it acts like a shield, absorbing energy

¹ Regarding the nature of the surgery, see RP 98:12-17 (10/28/13 a.m.); RP 74:24-75:8 (10/30/13 p.m.); RP 49:5-15 (11/7/13 a.m.); RP 38:16-21 (11/12/13 p.m.); RP 77:21-78:1 (11/19/13 a.m.); RP 35:12-13 (11/20/13 p.m.). Because the report of proceedings is numbered discontinuously, citations parenthetically indicate the date of the cited portion of the transcript, and, where applicable, whether it is from the morning (a.m.) or afternoon (p.m.) session of court.

from the laser and preventing the lower cuff from being inadvertently struck by the laser. The lower cuff will continue to hold the seal on the airway, so the surgeon can stop the procedure and swap out the damaged endotracheal tube for a new one before continuing. The lower cuff prevents oxygen-enriched air from escaping from the lungs to the site where the laser is being used.

One of the risks of laser surgery, especially in the presence of relatively high concentrations of oxygen, is fire in the patient's airway. The combination of a heat source (the laser), combustible material (the endotracheal tube and the patient's tissue), and the flow of highly concentrated oxygen creates a blowtorch effect.²

On the day of Ms. Anderson's surgery, the surgeon used a Laser Shield II endotracheal tube manufactured by Medtronic Xomed, Inc., and its parent company, Medtronic, Inc., a major manufacturer of medical devices (collectively "Medtronic").³ The Laser Shield II employs a single-cuff design. Medtronic criticizes the double-cuff design as giving the surgeon a "false sense of security," contending that it may lead the surgeon to continue the surgery even though the second cuff is vulnerable to a laser strike

² Regarding the blowtorch effect, *see* RP 30:15-33:4 (10/29/15 p.m.); RP 32:15-19 (10/30/13 a.m.).

³ The jury instructions did not distinguish between the Medtronic defendants.

and resulting airway fires.⁴ However, since 2000, there is a history of eight airway fires with the single-cuff Laser Shield II, including two known reports in the State of Washington. During the same period of time, there is only one reported airway fire with the double-cuff design, occurring outside of Washington.⁵

During the operation on Ms. Anderson, the surgeon struck the cuff of the Laser Shield II with the laser, while the anesthesiologist was administering 100% oxygen. Without any protection from a second cuff, the oxygen leaked into the surgical site where the laser was being used. The endotracheal tube caught on fire, creating the blowtorch effect, and Ms. Anderson suffered horrific burns in her respiratory tract. Fragments of the Laser Shield II were embedded in her trachea, and the tip of the tube lodged in the lower left lobe of her lungs. She was hospitalized for more than five months, undergoing multiple surgeries, and ultimately placed in a nursing home.

Before the surgery, Ms. Anderson would simply get hoarse when she sang. Afterward, she was unable to speak or even breathe

⁴ Regarding Medtronic's claim that the double-cuff design creates a false sense of security, see RP 96:8-97:24 (11/21/13 p.m.); RP 16:23-17:14 (11/25/13 p.m.); RP 62:4-25 (11/25/13 p.m.).

 $^{^5}$ There is reason to believe adverse events are underreported. See RP 7:4-16 (11/4/13 p.m.); RP 50:24-52:1 (11/4/13 p.m.).

on her own for more than 30 minutes at a time without ventilator assistance.

Ms. Anderson filed suit against her health care providers for negligence and against Medtronic for defective design of the Laser Shield II endotracheal tube. Following trial, the jury returned a verdict against the health care providers, but in favor of Medtronic. Ms. Anderson appealed the judgment in favor of Medtronic.⁶ During the appeal, Ms. Anderson died and Ms. Payne has been substituted as Personal Representative of her estate.

1. The superior court instructed the jury that Ms. Anderson had the burden to prove that Medtronic's Laser Shield II is not "reasonably safe," but declined her request to give the pattern jury instruction containing the statutory tests to determine whether a product is reasonably safe.

During trial, there was conflicting testimony regarding the safety of Medtronic's design for the Laser Shield II. The superior court gave Instruction No. 19, adapting the pattern jury instruction regarding the elements of a defective design claim, WPI 110.21. *See* CP 2567. The court also gave Instruction No. 20, adapting the pattern instruction regarding negligent design in the context of

⁶ See CP 4471-84 (notice of appeal); CP 4485-96 (amended notice). Ms. Anderson's appeal was styled as a cross-appeal because the health care providers filed two separate appeals of the judgment entered against them. The health care provider appeals later settled without a decision by the Court of Appeals.

medical devices, WPI 110.02.01. *See* CP 2568. The court did not give any other instructions regarding the design claim.⁷

The court's instructions to the jury required Ms. Anderson to prove "that the Medtronic defendants failed to exercise reasonable care in the design of the Laser-Shield II at the time the product left their control," and explained that "a medical device manufacturer has a duty to use reasonable care to design medical devices that are **reasonably safe**." CP 2567-68 (emphasis added). The instructions further required Ms. Anderson to prove "that the **unsafe condition** of the product was a proximate cause" of her injuries. CP 2567 (emphasis added). The instructions did not define what constitutes a "reasonably safe" product.

Ms. Anderson brought the lack of definition of the phrase "reasonably safe" to the court's attention, and proposed an instruction based on WPI 110.02, stating the risk-utility and consumer expectations tests for determining whether a product is reasonably safe under the WPLA, RCW 7.72.030(1)(a) & (3).⁸ When

 $^{^7}$ Instructions Nos. 19 & 20 and WPI 110.02.01 & 110.21 are reproduced in the Appendix.

⁸ Ms. Anderson's proposed instruction, CP 2238 & 4463, the pattern instruction, WPI 110.02, and the statute on which they are based, RCW 7.72.030, are reproduced in the Appendix. At one point, Medtronic proposed an instruction based on WPI 110.02, containing a form of the risk-utility test, but not the consumer expectations test. See CP 4896. A copy of Medtronic's proposed instruction is also reproduced in the Appendix.

the court declined to give the instruction, she took formal exception.⁹

2. During closing argument, Medtronic focused almost entirely on whether its product is "reasonably safe."

Counsel for Medtronic began closing argument by emphasizing what she believed to be the dispositive issue: "I want to start by saying that this case is complex, but I think what's clear is that the plaintiffs cannot prove that the Laser Shield II was not *reasonably safe, which is the standard*." RP 83:9-12 (12/3/13 p.m.) (emphasis added).¹⁰ "I am focusing on this first question, that is, did the plaintiff's [sic] prove, have they proven that the Laser Shield II is not *reasonably safe*." RP 84:11-13 (brackets & emphasis added).

Counsel pointed out that the verdict as to Medtronic hinged on this single issue:

did the plaintiffs prove, did they meet their burden of proving negligent design? Here's what it is, did the plaintiff prove through expert testimony to a reasonable degree of scientific probability that the Laser Shield II modified was not reasonably safe? Okay. And the answer — if the answer is no, then you stop there, and I will show you the verdict form as we go. You check no for

 $^{^9}$ The written exception, CP 4468-69, is reproduced in the Appendix. See also RP 10:11 (12/3/13 a.m.) (incorporating written exceptions by reference).

 $^{^{10}}$ All citations to Medtronic's closing argument are from the 12/3/13 p.m. session of court.

no negligence and you stop. And it's a defense verdict for Medtronic/Xomed. No need to even proceed beyond the first question.

RP 90:5-15 (emphasis added); *accord* RP 85:8-10 ("if you find that the Laser Shield II, first question, question one, negligence. Is reasonably safe, then deliberations must end [sic]").

Throughout closing, counsel continually returned to the issue of whether Medtronic's Laser Shield II is reasonably safe. *See, e.g.,* RP 88:23-24, 92:21-93:1, 93:13-14, 96:9-12, 97:22-98:2, 98:20-22, 99:4-15, 100:1-24, 101:7-9, 102:10-15, 103:23-104:1, 109:2-9, 112:19-21, 123:2-14, 128:14-16, 133:11-16, 134:12-17. Counsel emphasized that the issue is "the heart of our case" and "the heart of our defense." RP 111:2-3. She concluded:

Was this a reasonably safe design? I think we have covered that extensively. I told you I wanted to spend the majority of my time on that and I have.

RP 116:7-10. As requested, the jury returned a special verdict in

Medtronic's favor, finding no negligence. CP 2544 (question no. 7).

3. The Court of Appeals held that the statutory tests to determine whether a product is reasonably safe are limited to product liability claims involving strict liability and inapplicable to cases, such as this one, involving negligence.

On appeal, Anderson argued that the superior court erred in

failing to instruct the jury regarding the statutory tests to determine

whether a product is "reasonably safe."¹¹ The parties and the appellate court agreed that this case is governed by the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 402A cmt. k (1965) (hereafter "Comment k"), which provides that manufacturers of products deemed to be "unavoidably unsafe" to one extent or another are not subject to strict liability. This category of products generally includes medical products prescribed by a physician. *See Payne*, 2015 WL 5682438, at *15.

The parties and the appellate court also agreed with the pattern jury instruction for claims subject to Comment k, which requires proof that the manufacturer of a medical product was negligent as well as proof that the product itself is not "reasonably safe." *See id.* at *15-16. However, the court rejected Anderson's contention that the phrase "reasonably safe" as used in the pattern instruction should be defined in accordance with the statutory tests for determining whether a product is reasonably safe, reasoning that:

the risk utility and consumer expectations tests are used to determine whether a manufacturer is strictly liable and do not apply to a negligence design defect claim under comment k.

¹¹ Although Ms. Anderson's appeal initially included dismissal of a failure-towarn claim against Medtronic on summary judgment, the failure-to-warn claim is no longer subject to review.

Id. at *16.

At one point in its opinion, the court questioned whether an "unavoidably unsafe" product could ever be considered "reasonably safe." *See id.* at *15.¹² However, in the final analysis, the court approved the pattern instruction requiring Anderson to prove that Medtronic's product was not "reasonably safe" without a definition of the phrase:

The instruction the court gave to the jury correctly describes the duty of a manufacturer of unavoidably unsafe products in designing reasonably safe medical devices under comment k of the *Restatement* (Second) of Torts section 402A.

Id. at *17.

From this decision, Ms. Payne seeks review.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. The decision below alters the definition of a "reasonably safe" product in claims against medical product manufacturers, and presents a substantial issue of public interest that should be determined by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

With the adoption of the WPLA, the liability of a product manufacturer hinges upon whether its product is not "reasonably safe." *See generally* 16A Wash. Prac., Tort Law & Practice § 17.8 (4th

¹² Similar questions were raised in oral argument. *See* Transcript of Oral Arg., Mar. 3, 2015, at 15:10-17:21. The transcript is reproduced in the Appendix.

ed.). There are several different approaches by which a plaintiff can show that the product was not reasonably safe: (1) it was "not reasonably safe as designed," (2) "not reasonably safe because adequate warnings or instructions were not provided," (3) "not reasonably safe in construction," or (4) "not reasonably safe because it did not conform to the manufacturer's express warranty or to the implied warranties under Title 62A RCW." RCW 7.72.030(1) & (2).

With respect to design claims, there are two tests for determining whether the product was "reasonably safe." The first test, which is specific to design claims, involves a balancing of risk versus utility. It provides:

A product is not reasonably safe as designed, if, at the time of manufacture, the likelihood that the product would cause the claimant's harm or similar harms, and the seriousness of those harms, outweighed the burden on the manufacturer to design a product that would have prevented those harms and the adverse effect that an alternative design that was practical and feasible would have on the usefulness of the product[.]

RCW 7.72.030(1)(a) (brackets added). The second test, which applies to all of the different approaches for determining whether a product was reasonably safe, including, but not limited to design, is based on consumer expectations. It provides: In determining whether a product was not reasonably safe under this section, the trier of fact shall consider whether the product was unsafe to an extent beyond that which would be contemplated by the ordinary consumer.

RCW 7.72.030(3). These tests are independent and alternative means of establishing the product was not reasonably safe. *See Soproni v. Polygon Apartment Partners,* 137 Wn. 2d 319, 326-27, 971 P.2d 500 (1999).

Normally, proof that a product is not reasonably safe as designed results in imposition of strict liability, without consideration of fault on the part of the product manufacturer. See Falk v. Keene, 113 Wn. 2d 645, 782 P.2d 974 (1989). In a series of cases decided both before and after adoption of the WPLA, this Court has recognized an exception to strict liability for unavoidably unsafe products covered by Comment k. See Terhune v. A.H. Robins Co., 92 Wn. 2d 9, 577 P.2d 975 (1978); Rogers v. Miles Labs., 116 Wn. 2d 195, 802 P.2d 1346 (1991); Young v. Key Pharm., Inc., 130 Wn. 2d 160, 922 P.2d 59 (1996) (4-4 plurality); Ruiz-Guzman v. Amvac Chem. Corp., 141 Wn. 2d 493, 7 P.3d 795 (2000). However, the Court has cautioned that "the comment k exception to strict liability was not expressly provided for by the Legislature in adopting the WPLA" and "we must be sparing in its

application lest we defeat the letter or policy of the WPLA." *Ruiz-Guzman,* 141 Wn. 2d at 506.

Although Comment k liability is premised on negligence, see Rogers, 116 Wn. 2d at 207, this Court has never addressed whether the plaintiff must also show that the product is not "reasonably safe" or what that showing might entail. In keeping with the WPLA's focus on reasonable safety of the product, the applicable pattern jury instruction requires the plaintiff to show that the product was not reasonably safe, but the instruction does not specifically indicate whether the statutory risk-utility and consumer expectations tests should be used to define the phrase. See WPI 110.02.01.

In the absence of definition, it is presumed that the jury ascribes the ordinary meaning to the phrase "reasonably safe" in the pattern jury instruction. *See State v. Meneses*, 169 Wn. 2d 586, 592, 238 P.2d 495 (2010). The ordinary meaning of "reasonably safe" is "moderately" or "fairly" safe. *See Merriam-Webster Online, s.v.* "reasonable" (available at www.m-w.com; viewed Oct. 26, 2015). This definition is less detailed and precise than the WPLA tests for determining whether a product is not reasonably safe as designed. It does not identify the relevant factors or the required balancing

involved in the risk-utility test, nor does it prompt the jury to consider the perspective of the consumer expectations test. It implies a less exacting standard of safety than would otherwise be imposed under these tests, and threatens the balance struck by the Legislature between consumers and product manufacturers in enacting the WPLA, unduly impairing the rights of consumers to recover for injuries sustained as a result of unsafe products. *See* Laws of 1981, Ch. 26, § 1.

In rejecting application of the risk-utility and consumer expectations tests to claims under Comment *k* because they sound in negligence, the Court of Appeals decision is problematic on several levels. *First*, the court ignores the centrality of whether the product is "reasonably safe" in determining liability under the WPLA. *Second*, the court fails to acknowledge the difference between the WPLA definition of "reasonably safe" and the ordinary meaning of the phrase. *Third*, the court makes a category error by holding that proof of negligence, which relates to the manufacturer's *conduct*, eliminates the need to define "reasonably safe," which relates to the manufacturer's *product*. *Fourth*, the court does not reconcile its decision with the fact that the WPLA expressly provides that the consumer expectations test applies to

negligence claims for post-manufacture failure to warn. See RCW 7.72.030(1)(c) & (3). Fifth, the court does not recognize the natural affinity between the risk-utility test and the analysis of negligence. See Ruiz-Guzman, 141 Wn. 2d at 513 (Talmadge, J., concurring/dissenting, noting similarity with Judge Learned Hand's analysis of negligence in United States v. Carroll Towing Co., 159 F.2d 169, 173 (2d Cir. 1947)). At a minimum, these problems with the Court of Appeals decision will engender confusion for the bench and bar.

This Court should grant review of the decision below to clarify the meaning of "reasonably safe" in the context of a design case subject to Comment k, and decide whether the phrase should be defined according to the statutory risk-utility and consumer expectations tests that apply to other design cases.

2. The decision below conflicts with this Court's precedent holding that jury instructions must properly inform the jury of the applicable law and allow parties to argue their theory of the case, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

"Jury instructions are inadequate if they prevent a party from arguing its theory of the case, mislead the jury, or misstate the applicable law." *Barrett v. Lucky Seven Saloon, Inc.*, 152 Wn. 2d 259, 266, 96 P.3d 386 (2004). "As with a trial court's instruction misstating the applicable law, a court's *omission* of a proposed statement of the governing law will be 'reversible error where it prejudices a party." *Barrett*, 152 Wn. 2d at 267 (quotation omitted). In particular, refusal to instruct the jury regarding statutory or other technical definitions of words or phrases constitutes reversible error. *See Barrett*, at 267-75 (involving "apparently intoxicated" statutory standard for over service of alcohol); *see also Hub Clothing Co. v. City of Seattle*, 117 Wn. 2d 251, 253-54, 201 Pac. 6 (1921) (involving standard for "reasonable inspection" of city water meters). The rationale for this rule is that courts cannot presume that jurors already know and understand the applicable law. That is precisely why such care and effort is expended in instructing the jury. Jurors must be informed of the law in all relevant particulars before they can make a meaningful decision regarding the merits of a case.

The decision below conflicts with *Barrett* and similar cases because the Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court's failure to instruct the jury regarding the statutory tests for determining whether a product is reasonably safe and failed to consider the resulting prejudice. The jury decided Anderson's claim against Medtronic without being instructed on the applicable law, and prejudice should be presumed because the difference between the statutory risk-utility and consumer expectations tests and the ordinary meaning of the phrase "reasonably safe," i.e., "moderately" or "fairly" safe, renders the lack of instruction a clear misstatement of the law. *See Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Pkg. Sys., Inc.,* 174 Wn. 2d 851, 860, 281 P.3d 289 (2012); *see also Barrett,* at 267 (equating omission with misstatement). Prejudice is confirmed by the fact that counsel for Medtronic made the issue of reasonable safety the centerpiece of closing argument, unconstrained by the statutory definition of the phrase. *See Anfinson,* 174 Wn. 2d at 876-77 (stating "[n]o greater showing of prejudice from a misleading instruction is possible without impermissibly impeaching a jury's verdict").

The Court should grant review to remedy the conflict between the decision below and *Barrett*.

F. CONCLUSION

Ms. Payne asks the Court to grant her petition for review, reverse the judgment in favor of Medtronic, and remand this case for retrial of her product liability claim for negligent design of the Laser Shield II. Respectfully submitted this 28th day of October, 2015.

<u>s/George M. Ahrend</u> George M. Ahrend, WSBA #25160 AHREND LAW FIRM PLLC 16 Basin St. SW Ephrata, WA 98823 (509) 764-9000