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

III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

Anderson now has conceded, at every level of the state's court 

system, that comment k liability is premised on negligence and that a 

negligence standard applies in this case. And she could not be heard to 

argue otherwise, because this Court unequivocally has adopted a 

negligence standard for design defect claims arising from comment k 

products. The pattern jury instruction on comment k liability that the 

superior court gave to the jury in this case, WPI 110.02.01, conforms to 

that standard, and as the Court of Appeals concluded, focuses on the 

correct inquiry: Medtronic's duty to use reasonable care to design a 

medical product that is reasonably safe. 

Despite her acknowledgement that a negligence standard governs, 

as well as her concession before this Court that "the superior court 

instructed the jury . . . in accordance with the applicable pattern jury 

instruction" (Petition at 1 ), Anderson nonetheless argues that this Court 
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should grant review of the Court of Appeals' decision- under the guise of 

presenting "a substantial issue of public interest" (Petition at 1 0) - to 

"clarify" whether principles that are reserved for determining liability in 

strict liability design defect claims must be superimposed on the negligent 

design defect pattern jury instruction with which the superior court 

correctly instructed the jury. 

There is nothing to clarify. The supenor court's ruling on 

Anderson's instruction argument was compelled by this Court's precedent, 

as was the Court of Appeals' affirmance of that ruling. Adopting 

Anderson's position would require this Court to abandon its well-settled 

case law to fashion a liability standard that this jurisdiction has never 

recognized. And, given that the superior court correctly instructed the jury 

on the applicable law, the Court of Appeals' affirmance could not conflict 

with any other decision on the grounds that the instruction misstated the 

law. As review is not warranted under either RAP 13.4(b)(l) or (4), this 

Court should accordingly deny review. 

A. THE DECISION BELOW DOES NOT INVOLVE AN ISSUE 
OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST. 

1. This Court's precedent on design defect claims. 

This Court has long recognized a distinction between a 

manufacturer's liability for the design of ordinary defective products and 
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the design of "unavoidably unsafe products." E.g., Macias v. Saberhagen 

Holdings, Inc., 175 Wn.2d 402, 409, 282 P.3d 1069 (2012) ("[s]trict 

liability principles apply to ... defective design ... cases"); Ruiz-Guzman 

v. Amvac Chern. Corp., 141 Wn.2d 493, 506, 7 P.3d 795 (2000) (liability 

for manufacturer of "unavoidably unsafe" product falls into an exception 

to strict liability); see also Soproni v. Polygon Apartment Partners, 137 

Wn.2d 319,326,971 P.2d 500 (1999); Young for Young v. Key Pharm., 

Inc., 130 Wn.2d 160, 170, 922 P.2d 59 (1996) (plurality); Falk v. Keene 

Corp., 113 Wn.2d 645, 651, 782 P.2d 974 (1989); Rogers v. Miles Labs., 

Inc., 116 Wn.2d 195, 207, 802 P.2d 1346 (1991); Seattle-First Nat. Bank 

v. Tabert, 86 Wn.2d 145, 149, 542 P.2d 774 (1975). 

Since 1969, when this Court adopted Section 402A of the 

Restatement (Second) of Torts (1965) in Ulmer v. Ford Motor Co., 75 

Wn.2d 522, 531-32, 452 P .2d 729 (1969), strict liability has been the 

standard for product liability claims. Several years after adopting Section 

402A, the Court made clear that such "strict liability extends to a design 

defect." Tabert, 86 Wn.2d at 149. In Tabert, the Court held that strict 

liability for defective design will attach "under section 402A if a product 

is not reasonably safe," measured "in terms of the reasonable expectations 

of the ordinary consumer," i.e., "consumer expectations." !d. at 154. 

After the Legislature enacted the WPLA, RCW Ch. 7.72, in 1981, 

13 



see laws of 1981, ch. 27, § 1, the Court was asked to decide whether the 

Tabert standard survived that enactment. Answering yes, the Court held 

in Falk that, despite the Legislature's use of the word "negligence" in 

RCW 7.72.030(1), strict liability would remain the standard for design 

defect product liability claims brought against manufacturers. Falk, 113 

Wn.2d at 650-51, 653-54.7 

The Court noted that before the WPLA' s passage, "design defect 

claims were judged under the consumer expectations test of Tabert, with 

its balancing of risk and utility, and focus was on the product and its 

safety." Falk, 113 Wn.2d at 649. This would remain the law under the 

WPLA, because when defining the phrase "not reasonably safe" in the 

statute, "the Legislature set forth a risk-utility analysis and mandated that 

the trier of fact consider consumer expectations" - in other words, the 

strict liability "components of a design defect claim under Tabert." Falk, 

113 Wn.2d at 651 (citing RCW 7.72.030(l)(a), (3)). 

This Court's precedent followed a different trajectory, however, 

when imposing liability on a manufacturer for its design of products 

categorized as "unavoidably unsafe," such as the medical device at issue 

here. Most notably, in Terhune v. A.H Robins Co., 90 Wn.2d 9, 12-13, 

7 RCW 7.72.030(1) states that "[a] product manufacturer is subject to liability to a 
claimant if the claimant's harm was proximately caused by the negligence of the 
manufacturer in that the product was not reasonably safe as designed." 
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577 P .2d 575 (1978), the Court adopted comment k to the Restatement 

(Second) of Torts Section 402A as an exception to strict liability for 

"unavoidably unsafe" products. The Court thereafter confirmed that the 

proper liability standard for comment k products is negligence, not strict 

liability. Rogers, 116 Wn.2d at 208; accord Young, 130 Wn.2d at 168-69 

(plurality). And in Ruiz-Guzman, the Court recognized that comment k 

could apply in defective design cases where an "unavoidably unsafe" 

product was at issue. 141 Wn.2d at 505-11. 

2. The pattern jury instructions conform to the law. 

The separate pattern jury instructions used for strict liability and 

negligent design defect claims, WPI 110.02 and WPI 110.02.01, 

respectively, reflect this Court's different approaches to these theories of 

liability. The strict liability design defect instruction in WPI 110.02 tells 

the jury to "determin[ e] whether a product is not reasonably safe as 

designed," WPI 110.02 (emphasis added), with the product's reasonable 

safety measured under alternative risk-utility and consumer-expectations 

tests. The negligent design defect instruction in WPI 110.02.01 tells the 

jury to decide whether a manufacturer has used "reasonable care to design 

... medical products ... that are reasonably safe," with "reasonable care" 

measured by "what the manufacturer knew or should reasonably have 

known at the time of the plaintiffs injury." WPI 110.02.01. 
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The instructions ask the jury to answer different questions because, 

as this Court routinely has recognized, "[n]egligence and strict liability are 

not mutually exclusive." Davis v. Globe Mach. Mfg. Co., Inc., 102 Wn.2d 

68, 72, 684 P.2d 692 (1984); accord Young, 130 Wn.2d at 178 (plurality); 

Lenhardt v. Ford Motor Co., 102 Wn.2d 208, 211-13, 683 P.2d 1097 

(1984). When potential liability is based on strict liability, "the focus is on 

the product itself and the reasonable expectations of the user." Simonetta 

v. Viad Corp., 165 Wn.2d 341, 356-57, 197 P.3d 127 (2008). By contrast, 

in a negligence action, the focus instead is placed "on the conduct of the 

defendant." Id 

3. The Court of Appeals correctly applied controlling 
precedent. 

The Court of Appeals reviewed this Court's well-settled case law 

to reach the only conclusion that precedent allows: "[u]nder the WPLA 

and case law, the risk utility and consumer expectations tests are used to 

determine whether a manufacturer is strictly liable and do not apply to a 

negligence design defect claim under comment k." Payne, 2015 WL 

5682438, at *16. That conclusion, the Court of Appeals reasoned, was 

compelled by this Court's adoption of "a negligence standard for design 

defect claims involving comment k products," which standard focuses "on 

the conduct of the manufacturer to use reasonable care to design a medical 
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product that is reasonably safe." ld. at *15 (citing Ruiz-Guzman, 141 

Wn.2d at 507-08). The WPI 110.02.01 instruction used at trial "correctly 

describe[d] the duty of a manufacturer of unavoidably unsafe products in 

designing reasonably safe medical devices under comment k." ld. at* 17. 

"Anderson assert[ed] the court erred in refusing to give her 

supplemental jury instruction on the risk utility and consumer expectations 

tests to define whether a medical device is reasonably safe," but the Court 

of Appeals rejected this argument, noting this Court's precedent 

demonstrated that such principles were reserved for "determin[ing] 

whether a manufacturer is strictly liable." I d. at * 16. Anderson could not 

request the court to give a supplemental instruction that merely "delete[ d] 

the clearly inapplicable language of the Strict Liability Instruction [WPI 

11 0.02] that states, 'A manufacturer has a duty to design products that are 

reasonably safe as designed,' but otherwise set[] forth verbatim the tests 

used in determining a strict liability design defect claim: the risk utility 

and consumer expectations tests." !d. Therefore, "[t]he court did not err 

in refusing to give the supplemental jury instruction." ld. at* 17. 

4. Precedent unequivocally provides the answer to the 
issues that Anderson seeks to present to this Court. 

Anderson argues that review should be granted principally because 

"this Court has never addressed whether the plaintiff must also show that 

17 



the [unavoidably unsafe] product is not 'reasonably safe' or what that 

showing might entail," under either the strict liability risk-utility or 

consumer expectations tests. Petition at 13. But the Court does not need 

to address a question that its precedent already unequivocally answers. 

Anderson agrees that "[ c ]omment k liability is premised on 

negligence." Petition at 13 (citing Rogers, 116 Wn.2d at 207). In a 

negligence action, the manufacturer's conduct is the precise focus of the 

jury's attention, because negligence arises from a failure to use ordinary 

care. E.g., Simonetta, 165 Wn.2d at 356-57; Young, 130 Wn.2d at 178 

(plurality); Davis, 102 Wn.2d at 72; Lenhardt, 102 Wn.2d at 211-14. The 

pattern jury instruction given here conforms to that standard - WPI 

110.02.01 (manufacturer "has a duty to use reasonable care to design ... 

medical products ... that are reasonably safe," and "[a] failure to use 

reasonable care is negligence") - as the Court of Appeals correctly held. 

In her Petition, Anderson claims that "problems with the Court of 

Appeals' decision will engender confusion for the bench and bar" (Petition 

at 15), yet at the same time, she implores this Court to overrule long

established precedent to engraft inapplicable strict liability tests onto a 

negligence cause of action. The Court of Appeals rightly recognized the 

law is clear, and applied that law in affirming the trial court. This Court 

accordingly should deny review. 
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B. THE DECISION BELOW DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH 
THIS COURT'S CASE LAW. 

Attempting to build upon her faulty premise that the superior court 

was required to instruct the jury on a comment k negligence claim using 

strict liability standards, Anderson argues that further review is necessary 

because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's 

precedent holding that instructions must properly inform the jury of the 

applicable law and allow parties to argue their theory of the case. Petition 

at 15-17. This argument presupposes that the Court of Appeals reached 

the wrong conclusion. But it did not. Argument, Point A., supra. Indeed, 

approving Anderson's proposed instructions would have misstated, not 

clarified, the applicable standard of liability. 

The cases to which Anderson refers for purported conflict do not 

state otherwise, nor do they decide - let alone reference - the legal 

standard of liability applicable to the design defect claim at issue in this 

case. E.g., Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Pkg. Sys., Inc., 174 Wn. 2d 851, 

860-74, 281 P.3d 289 (2012) (addressing whether jury instructions 

correctly stated the law for determining whether a worker is an employee 

under the Minimum Wage Act, and that evidence must be common to the 

class members in a class action); Barrett v. Lucky Seven Saloon, Inc., 152 

Wn.2d 259, 266-74, 96 P.3d 386 (2004) (addressing whether jury 
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instruction on alcohol prohibition statute stated the correct law on civil 

liability); Hub Closing Co. v. City ofSeattle, 117 Wn. 251,253-54,201 P. 

6 (1921) (addressing whether jury should have been instructed on term 

"reasonable inspection" in negligence action against city). Because these 

cases fail to establish conflict on any legal question decided below, this 

Court has no basis to accept review. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, this Court should deny Anderson's 

Petition for Review. 

2015.